I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR: 

I. The Trial Court erred in finding in its Order Granting Defendant' s

Motion for Summary Judgment, entered June 21, 2013, that there were no

issues as to any material facts, and that the Defendant was entitled to

Summary Judgment as a matter of law. 

II. The Trial Court erred in denying Plaintiffs Motion for Summary

Judgment entered June 21, 2013. 

III. The Trial Court erred in denying Plaintiffs Motion to Compel by

Order entered May 17, 2013, and in denying Plaintiff' s Motion to Strike. 

II. ' ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR: 

1( a). In entering its Order Granting Defendant' s Motion for Summary

Judgment, the Court dismissed Plaintiff' s First Cause of Action alleging a

disability -based hostile work environment. The issue here is whether the

Defendant, being fully aware of the Plaintiff' s prior back injury, 

necessitating the insertion of rods into his back should have provided the

Plaintiff with a mechanical lift as it did for the other drivers after being

advised by the Plaintiff that offloading heavy cases of milk, lifting

overhead, weighing in excess of 70 pounds without the assistance of a

mechanical lift and, after further being advised by the Plaintiff that having

to jump from the truck, a distance of some 5 1/ 2 — 5 3/ 4 feet, and landing

on concrete surfaces was causing further injury to his back. ( CP 35 -39, at
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35 & 36) & ( CP 287 -320, at 288) The Defendant created a disability - 

based hostile work environment for the Plaintiff when the evidence

demonstrates that the Defendant supplied most of the other truck drivers

with mechanical lifts which would have prevented the Plaintiff from

causing further injury to his back. And, when the Plaintiff would raise the

subject in conversation, all he would ever hear was " hurry up ". ( CP 35- 

39, at37) 

1( b). Does an employer discriminate against an employee by failing to

accommodate a previous back injury which was aggravated as a result of

the Plaintiff being required to offload heavy cases of milk, lifting

overhead, ' weighing in excess of 70 pounds and being required to jump

from the delivery truck, a distance of some 5 1/ 2 — 5 3/ 4 feet, thereby

causing additional injury to his back when a reasonable accommodation

could have been provided which would have removed these two injury- 

producing activities, by providing Plaintiff with a mechanical lift for the

dairy section of his load as was provided to the other drivers. 

1( c). Did the Defendant employer fail to accommodate the Plaintiff, 

with a previous back injury, after the Plaintiff notified the Defendant that

having to offload 70+ pound cases of milk and being required to jump 5

1/ 2 — 5 3/ 4 feet from the delivery truck to the concrete surface was causing

additional injury to his back, did the Defendant, in failing to initiate any
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discussion about attempting to accommodate the Plaintiff' s injuries, 

discriminate against the Plaintiff. 

1( d). Did the employer fail to accommodate the disability of the Plaintiff

by refusing to consider him for a warehouse job where the Plaintiff

notified the Defendant that jumping from his truck and off - loading heavy

loads without the assistance of a lift, brought about by the constant

demands of the Defendant to speed things up, where it was shown that the

Defendant was hiring persons to staff the warehouse and where Plaintiff

could have accomplished the work without causing further injury to his

back. 

1( e). Did the Defendant terminate Plaintiff s employment after learning

that Plaintiff intended to file a Labor & Industries claim for an on-the-job

injury received in the early morning hours of August 10, 2009. 

2( a). Did the Court err in not granting Plaintiffs Motion for Summary

Judgment on the issue of failing to accommodate Plaintiff's disability

where the Defendant offered no evidence that it even attempted to comply

with the '` interactive process" and thereby engage the Plaintiff in a

discussion of what might be done to prevent further injury to his back

when it did not provide him with a mechanical lift as it did other drivers, 

which required him to jump some 5 1/ 2 — 5 3/ 4 feet from the truck and to

offload heavy loads. 
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And, secondly, did the Court err in failing to grant Plaintiff' s

Motion for Summary Judgment for failure to accommodate Plaintiffs

request for a job in the warehouse where Defendant offered no evidence, 

again, that it ever engaged Plaintiff in this " interactive process" by

discussing Plaintiff s request for a warehouse job with him. 

3. The Trial Court admitted into evidence in deciding the Defendant' s

Motion for Summary Judgment self - serving statements; namely, emails

between the Defendant' s employees and yet denied Plaintiff the right, 

under the discovery process, to challenge and question the authenticity of

these emails. 

3( a). Did the Trial Court err by denying Plaintiff' s Motion to Strike the

emails of the Defendant, an issue which went to the heart of the case, 

which were simply self - serving statements; and did it earlier compound

the error by denying Plaintiff the ability to question and challenge the

authenticity of these emails? 

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE: 

Plaintiff Anthony Brown began his employment with the

Defendant (both Defendants at one time or the other were identified as his

employer) in May of 2009. In his pre- employment meetings with the

Defendant. Plaintiff advised the Defendant of surgery had on his back and

that the surgery had left him with rods in his back to stabilize it. This
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information was also placed in Plaintiffs medical records. ( CP 287 -320, at

288) 

Plaintiff drove a tractor /trailer combination for the Defendant, 

bringing supplies to Starbucks stores. Most of the other truck drivers

drove vehicles with " mechanical lifts" on them. The lift removed the

stress associated with moving the heavy loads from the trailers. Most of

the heavy loads came from the freezer unit, especially boxes containing

gallons of milk, weighing in excess of 70 pounds. Without a lift, Plaintiff

had to reach above his shoulder level to move these heavier items and then

remove them to ground level. Additionally, the absence of a lift and the

time demands placed upon him required him to jump from the truck to the

ground. All of this created considerable stress on his already

compromised back. ( CP 287 -320, at 287, 288) 

Plaintiff made the Defendant aware of the difficulties he was

experiencing because of the absence of a lift or any other mechanical

means of transferring the heavy items from the trailer to the ground. The

Defendant not only refused to accommodate the Plaintiff in this regard, 

but even refused to discuss the matter with him and, when the Plaintiff re- 

injured his back in the early morning hours of August 10, 2009, the

Defendant fired him. 

APPELLANT' S BRIEF - 5



The Defendant alleges that it placed importance on speed. And, 

whereas the Defendant wants the Court to believe that Anthony Brown

was considerably slower in his job duties than the other drivers, the

evidence does not bear that out. This was simply another part of the

Defendant' s pretext. 

Additionally, Anthony Brown could have been even faster in

accomplishing these deliveries and would not have caused additional

injury to his back had the Defendant done one thing for him that it did for

the other drivers, and that is to have provided him with a mechanical lift

for the dairy section. A mechanical lift would also have prevented

Anthony Brown from having to do two maneuvers in offloading these

dairy products that, as he describes in his Declaration, probably lead to his

second back injury, and that is having to jump from a height of 5 1/ 2 — 5

3/ 4 feet from the trailer to the concrete surface below (CP 287 -320, at 288, 

292, 293), and off - loading, over his head, heavy boxes of milk. Again, the

use of a mechanical lift was not anything exceptional as most of the other

drivers had these. 

On what was to be his last delivery route, the Des Moines route, he

injured hi .s back while attempting to offload crates of milk in the early

morning hours of August 10, 2009. The truck drivers' routes would begin

at either 5: 30 p.m. or 6: 30 p.m. each day. ( CP 287 -320, at 289) These
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routes were designed so that deliveries could be made when the

customers' stores were closed for business. So when we talk of, say, an

August 9 route, this would be a route which begins in the evening of

August 9 but which concludes in the early morning hours of August 10. 

And, likewise, an August 10 route would be a route which begins in the

evening of August 10 and concludes in the early morning hours of August

11. When the injury occurred, he called his night supervisor, Chuck

Brewer, and informed him of this. Mr. Brewer came to the scene and

helped Anthony Brown complete his route. The Defendant was clearly

aware of Plaintiff' s injury, before he was terminated, through the

knowledge of Chuck Brewer. ( CP 35 -39, at 36; CP 453 -454, at 454) 

While he was helping Plaintiff, Mr. Brewer told him to stop by the

dispatch office when he completed his route to pick up his L &I papers to

file his claim. ( CP 35 -39, at 36) However, when Anthony Brown

completed his route and went to the dispatch office, Chuck Brewer had

already left and there were no L &I papers awaiting him. Because of the

pain in his back, he went home and went to bed and because the pain and

discomfort had worsened, he did not return to the dispatch office to obtain

the L &I papers until August 11. 

When he came to pick up the L &I papers, Damon Spear had him

immediately come into the office and terminated him. The Defendant
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wants the Court to believe that through this maneuver of Damon Spear, 

that Anthony Brown was terminated before the Defendant knew of his

injury. However, Chuck Brewer had known of the injury from the early

morning of August 10. The Defendant has produced no testimony from

Chuck Brewer contradicting anything that Plaintiff has related about that

course of events. 

Further, the Plaintiff, in his Declaration, advises the Court that as

he was leaving the dispatch office, Steve McCraney, another supervisor, 

who had not been in the same office with he and Damon Spear, made the

comment to him " that he did not need the L &I papers in order to see a

doctor ". Steve McCraney, another supervisor, could only have made that

statement if he had knowledge of Plaintiff' s injury from Chuck Brewer. 

CP 35 -39„ at 35, 36; CP 287 -320, at 288) 

After Damon Spear terminated Plaintiff and before he left Spear' s

office, the Plaintiff again asked to be placed in a warehouse position with

the Defendant. The warehouse position would not have required the strain

on his back and speed was not a factor as it was for the delivery drivers. 

He was refused this request out -of -hand. ( CP 35 -39, at 36, 37) In

addition to violating the Defendant' s obligation to accommodate Anthony

Brown' s injury, the outright rejection of his request for a warehouse job

clearly demonstrates that it was not Plaintiffs job performance that
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brought about his termination, but, rather, his job injury. Why would an

employer automatically reject a request by an employee who gave 100

percent effort every day for another position with the Defendant? Again, 

the answer is obvious, and that is, the Defendant knew of Plaintiff' s injury

and that was the reason for his termination and that was the reason they

did not want to offer him another position. 

In order to make the Court believe that it had come to the decision

to terminate Anthony Brown before he was injured, the Defendant put

together a rather elaborate scenario. The Defendant " produced" some

emails from all of Plaintiffs supervisors stating they wanted to terminate

Plaintiff on August 1. Anthony Brown was scheduled to drive the week of

August 2 through August 8. To try and have the Court believe that he was

not terminated on August 1 pursuant to the statements in the emails, the

Defendant: comes up with a scheme that because it was short-handed with

drivers, it advised the Trial Court that it decided to keep Anthony Brown

on through that week. However, the deposition testimony of Damon

Spear shows the flaw in this pretext. Mr. Spear testified that the

Defendant had at least six other drivers that it could have assigned to

Anthony Brown' s route if, indeed, the Defendant had intended to

discharge Mr. Brown as of August 1. ( CP 264 -286, at 268) 
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And then, to try and explain why he was still driving the following

week, beginning August 9th, the Defendant concocts a story that one Mark

McAlister called in sick on August 9th and Anthony Brown was assigned

to drive his route, scheduled for August 9. ( CP 87 -110, at 91) As the

Defendant explains this in his Motion for Summary Judgment: 

The decision to terminate Brown' s employment was made

on August 1, 2009. Damon Spear, one of QCDS' s

supervisors planned to notify Brown of his termination
when he first reported to work on August 9, 2009. 

However, earlier on the afternoon of August 9, a driver

named Mark McAlister called in sick. Spear decided to

place Brown on the schedule to work McAlister' s Des

Moines route because QCDS was ` short- handed' on that

da, 

Brown worked the Des Moines route on August 9, 2010

which begins at 6: 15 p.m. and went into the early morning
hours of August 10, 2009." ( CP 87 -110, at 91, 92) 

However, in attempting to devise this sham, the Defendant

overlooked one important item of evidence, and that is, that Anthony

Brown had already been scheduled to drive his regular route. He had a

copy of the written schedule that comes out weekly, which was filed with

the Trial Court. ( CP 287 -320, at 291) Mark McAlister is alleged to have

called in sick at 11: 36 a.m. of August 9. The evidence shows that a

written schedule could not have been prepared that quickly. ( CP 321 -323, 

322) The written schedule in Anthony Brown' s possession was that

schedule printed and distributed on a weekly basis. There was no last- 
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minute use of Anthony Brown to drive for Mark McAlister. Anthony

Brown was driving his own regular route on August 9. The Defendant had

not intended to discharge Anthony Brown until it learned of his injury in

the early morning of August 10! 

In attempting to create this pretext, the Defendant submitted the

Affidavit of Eric Lard, the transportation supervisor. Mr. Lard' s

deposition declared: 

Attached hereto as Exhibit A is a true and correct copies

of each of the daily route assignments for the month of
August 2009 for the Kent, Washington facility. These are

the copies of the actual route and driver assignments at that

time. As these documents show, Mr. Brown was taken off

of the schedule after August 9, although he was placed

back on the schedule for one day, August 10, because the
regular driver, Mr. McAlister had called in sick." ( CP 188- 

221., at 189) 

As the Court will notice, the Defendant had advised the Trial Court

that Mark McAlister called in sick on August 9. However, Eric Lard

testifies that he had called in sick on August 10. 

IV. ARGUMENT: 

2. Lunch Time and " Break" Time: 

Plaintiff has alleged that the Defendant provided neither time for

lunch nor " break" time. This Cause of Action is supported by both the

testimony of Anthony Walton and Anthony Brown. Mr. Walton, a former

driver himself for the Defendant, advises the Court: 
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As far as lunch and rest breaks, I have never seen these
written into our routes schedules. For the most part, drivers

had to work through these — although occasionally a driver
might get a sandwich to eat between deliveries — not the

best safety practice." ( CP 321 -323, at 323) 

And, the Plaintiff also advised the Court in his Declaration as

follows: 

I had no time allowed for my lunch nor my two 10 minute
breaks. Nor was I paid for them." ( CP 35 -39, at 37) 

And., at his deposition, Plaintiff testified: 

I never took one. I was working through my breaks, lunch
and breaks... We were told to just keep working and get
the shift done. That' s what I was told. Some guys, they eat
their sandwich while they' re going down the road to their
next: stop to try and get the routes done. 

Additionally, Eric Lard, at his deposition, testified on this subject

as follows: 

Q. But there is no specific break written into that

schedule, is there? 

A. No, we don't. No, there isn't. 

Q. And there isn't a specific lunch break written into that

schedule? 

THE. WITNESS: No." ( CP 264 -286, at 270, 271) 
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This is not what the law intends when it requires an employer to

allow an employee a lunch break and two 10 minute breaks during the

day. 

WA .0 296 - 126 -092 prescribes: 

1) Employees shall be allowed a meal period of at least

thirty minutes which commences no less than two hours
nor more than five hours from the beginning of the shift. 
Meal periods shall be on the employer's time when the

employee is required by the employer to remain on duty, on
the premises or at a prescribed work site in the interest of

the employer. 

2) No employee shall be required to work more than five

consecutive hours without a meal period. 

4) Employees shall be allowed a rest period of not less

than ten minutes, on the employer's time, for each four

hours of working time. Rest periods shall be scheduled as
near as possible to the midpoint of the work period. No

employee shall be required to work more than three hours

without a rest period. 

5) Where the nature of the work allows employees to take

intermittent rest periods equivalent to ten minutes for each

4 hours worked, scheduled rest periods are not required." 

As he Court will see, meal periods are " on the employer' s time" 

and rest periods " shall be scheduled ". Telling a driver that they can eat a

sandwich while they are driving from one delivery point to the next is not

in keeping with what the law envisions. Telling the employee is he /she

can find time during the day to both take a meal break and a rest period is

APPELLANT' S BRIEF - 13



obviously not providing for these on the employer' s time and is not

scheduling them as required by law. 

2( a)., 

Plaintiff submits to this Court that there are two issues on which

the Defendant has not presented any evidence, and these are: 

1) When the Plaintiff advised the Defendant' s supervisors that

operating his truck without a mechanical lift and thereby having to jump

from the truck some 5 1/ 2 — 5 3/ 4 feet and then offload heavy loads was

causing additional aggravation and injury to his prior back injury and

requested a mechanical lift, that the Defendant had an obligation, at the

very least, to engage Plaintiff in an " interactive process ", that is, to discuss

the matter with him. This the Defendant never did. 

As Anthony Brown advised the Trial Court: 

About two weeks before I was terminated, Damon Spear, 

Chuck Brewer and Steve McCraney began ` riding' me. 

They were saying that I was not fast enough. I told them

that most of the other drivers had lifts for their dairy
products and that this would both help speed me up and
would prevent my back from acting up as a result of having
to jump from the truck and climb back into the truck to
offload products as well as requiring overhead lifting to
remove heavy cartons of milk. They simply ignored my
discussions about my back and how the lift gate would
assist me in completing my job assignments... In addition

to telling Eric Lard about my back injury, I also mentioned
this to Steve McCraney and Chuck Brewer, two other
supervisors." ( CP 35 -39, at 36, 37) 
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2) And, Anthony Brown further testified to the Trial Court: 

Prior to my termination, I had spoken to Damon Spear and
other supervisors about work in the warehouse. I had done

this because once it was obvious that they were not going
to give me a lift and that I was going to have to keep
jumping out of these trucks, I knew the warehouse position
would be less strenuous on my back. I had spoken to both

Steve McCraney and Chuck Brewer, two of my
supervisors, about the warehouse position two or three

times previously and I had mentioned it to Damon Spear
once before. 

And then, on August 11, when he terminated me, I again

asked him about the warehouse position and his response

was simply they would not use me in the warehouse, that
we 're done'. 

The work in the warehouse was less physical and one was

not always running up against time deadlines. These time

deadlines, in conjunction with the fact that I did not have a

mechanical lift, was the reason why I was continually
having to jump from these high trailers which was
producing a lot of stress of my back. I was familiar with

the work that was being done in the warehouse and I know
that. I could have handled that position and would have

done a very good job at it." ( CP 287 -320, at 292, 293) 

In Frisino v. Seattle School District, 160 Wn. App. 765, 249 P.3d

1044 ( May 2011), the Court, in discussing the issue of accommodation

stated: 

WLAD requires an employer to reasonably accommodate
a disabled employee unless the accommodation would pose

an undue hardship. RCW 49.60. 180( 2) A reasonable

accommodation must allow the employee to work in the

environment and perform the essential functions of her job

without substantially limiting symptoms. To

accommodate, the employer must affirmatively take steps

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