NO. 45097-6-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, DIVISION II

ANTHONY BROWN,

Petitioner,

v.

GOLDEN STATE FOODS CORP. and QUALITY CUSTOM DISTRIBUTION SERVICES, INC.,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF

James M. Barrett, WSBA No. 41137 Ogletree, Deakins, Nash, Smoak & Stewart, P.C. 222 SW Columbia St., Suite 1500 Portland, OR 97201 (503) 552-2140

Attorneys for Respondents

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

ARGUMENT

QCDS will address Brown's assignments of error out of order, beginning with the trial court's rulings on Brown's motion to compel and motion to strike, because the Court's review of those rulings will define the scope of the record on summary judgment. *See Sunbreaker v. Condominium Ass'n v. Travelers Ins. Co.*, 79 Wn. App. 368, 373, 901 P.2d 1078 (1995) (review of evidentiary rulings established scope of record for subsequent review of summary judgment order).

A. The Trial Court Did Not Err in Denying Brown's Motion to Compel

Brown assigns error to the trial court's May 17, 2013 order denying his motion to compel QCDS to respond to certain interrogatories and requests for production of documents. (CP 459-60.) A trial court's ruling on a discovery motion is reviewed for abuse of discretion, which occurs when the court "bases its decision on unreasonable or untenable grounds." *Clarke v. Office of Attorney Gen.*, 133 Wn. App. 767, 777, 138 P.3d 144 (2006).

Brown contends that the trial court erred in denying him discovery that "would have permitted access to [QCDS's] computer system." (App. Br. p. 17.) Brown speculates that such access would have uncovered evidence that the emails showing QCDS's non-discriminatory decision to terminate him a week before his alleged on-the-job injury had been

"falsified." (*Id.*) Brown further appears to suggest that access to QCDS's computer system would have uncovered additional Trip Records relating to Brown that QCDS could not locate. (*Id.*, p. 17.) Lastly, Brown suggests that the trial court erred in denying him discovery of records relating to other employees "to demonstrate that [he] was doing as good a job as any other employee." (*Id.*)

Brown's arguments are not persuasive. As to his requests for access to QCDS's computer system, the trial court correctly determined that such invasive discovery was unjustified. QCDS represented that it had produced all responsive emails that it believed existed and/or that it could locate. (CP 22; 502-11.) Brown's professed disbelief and unsupported accusations of "falsification" of evidence was not sufficient to warrant the highly unusual remedy of granting Brown access to QCDS's computers. *See, e.g., Advante Intern. Corp. v. Mintel Learning Technology*, 2006 WL 1806151, *1 (N.D. Cal. Jun. 29, 2006) ("[J]ust as a party would not be entitled to inspect personally an opposing party's offices and filing cabinets simply because it believed that discovery misconduct had occurred, the accusations Mintel makes here do not justify [access to a party's computers].").

Similarly, the fact that QCDS could not produce all of Brown's Trip Records did not warrant additional, intrusive discovery. See, e.g.,

Silva v. McKenna, 2012 WL 1596971, *4 (W.D. Wash. May 7, 2012) ("While it is clear that Plaintiff is unhappy with this answer, Mr. McKenna responded to the interrogatories under oath and cannot be compelled to provide information that he does not have."); Shalabi v. Atlantic Richfield Co., 2012 WL 3727334, *1 (W.D. Wash. Aug. 28, 2012) ("The Court is unable to compel a party to produce something that it does not possess.").

With respect to Brown's wide-ranging requests for records relating to other employees, QCDS pointed out that Brown sought records for individuals who were not similarly situated and, moreover, that Brown could not explain why the records of the other employees would support his claims. (CP 21; 23.) *See State v. Blackwell*, 120 Wn.2d 822, 845 P.2d 1017 (1993) (party must advance some factual predicate which makes it reasonably likely the requested file will bear information material to his claim).

Lastly, at the summary judgment hearing, the Court offered to give Brown more time for discovery, but Brown declined:

THE COURT: . . . What you're suggesting, Mr. DeJean, is that there might be something else. If there's something else that you want to discover, you know, I'm always opposed to trying to make a decision if there's not enough information; but if you think that there is enough in the record[,] . . . I certainly would give you more time if you

think you need more time to find more emails.

MR. DEJEAN: I won't be able to find

them, Judge.

THE COURT: Okay.

(RP 6.)

In short, Brown waived any assertion that the trial court erred in deciding the parties' motions for summary judgment without allowing Brown additional discovery. *See Avellaneda v. State*, 167 Wn. App. 474, 485 n. 5, 273 P.3d 477 (2012) ("Failure to request a continuance under CR 56(f) waives the issue."); *Guile v. Ballard Community Hosp.*, 70 Wn. App. 18, 24-25, 851 P.2d 689 (1993) (plaintiff who failed to indicate to trial court that she needed more time for discovery could not claim on appeal that "trial court granted the summary judgment motions prematurely").

B. The Trial Court Did Not Err in Denying Brown's Motion to Strike

Brown next assigns error to the Court's June 21, 2013 denial of his motion to strike the "self-serving" August 1, 2009 emails that QCDS submitted in support of its motion for summary judgment. (App. Br. p. 16.) Brown's motion to strike was made in conjunction with a summary judgment motion, and the trial court's ruling is therefore subject to

de novo review. Folsom v. Burger King, 135 Wn. 2d 658, 663, 958 P.2d 301 (1998).

The emails in question were submitted as exhibits to the declaration of Kayla Miller, the Human Resources Director of QCDS. (CP 502-11.) The emails were especially damaging to Brown's claims – indeed, they were dispositive – because they showed that QCDS had decided to terminate Brown for performance reasons on August 1, 2009, well before he claimed to have been injured on the job and had notified the company of a disability and/or a workers' compensation claim. (*See* CP 508-09.)

On appeal, Brown renews his argument to the trial court that the emails "were simply self-serving statements" and therefore inadmissible. (App. Br. p. 16-17.) He points to *W.W. Conner Co. v. McCollister & Campbell*, 9 Wn. 2d 407, 115 P.2d 370 (1941), where the court excluded a "self-serving" declaration of the existence of an express agreement.

However, the decision in *W.W. Conner Co.* – which has not been cited by any court in over 40 years – does not stand for the broad proposition that "self-serving" equates to "inadmissible." To the contrary, Washington appellate courts have since clarified that "there is no 'self-serving hearsay' bar that excludes an otherwise admissible statement." *State v. Pavlik*, 165 Wn. App. 645, 653, 268 P.3d 986 (2011) (citing *State*

v. King, 71 Wn. 2d 573, 577, 429 P.2d 914 (1967) ("'self-serving' seems to be a shorthand way of saying that it was hearsay and did not fit into any of the recognized exceptions to the hearsay rule")).

As QCDS pointed out in opposition to Brown's motion to strike, regardless whether the emails were "self-serving," they were admissible under at least two exceptions to the hearsay rule, *viz.*, the state-of-mind exception under ER 803(3) and the business records exception under ER 803(6). *See, e.g., Rice v. Offshore Systems, Inc.*, 167 Wn. App. 77, 87, 272 P.3d 865 (2012) (reports of employee's drunk and disorderly conduct were admissible under ER 803(3) to show employer's motive in terminating employee); *Domingo v. Boeing Employee's Credit Union*, 124 Wn. App. 71, 78-79, 98 P.3d 1222 (2004) (declaration of plaintiff's supervisor was admissible under ER 803(3) to show motivation for termination). *See also Hedenberg v. Aramark American Food Services, Inc.*, 476 F. Supp. 2d 1199, 1204 n.3 (W.D. Wash. 2007) (denying motion to strike declaration submitted to show supervisors then-existing state of mind).

In his appeal brief, Brown does not advance any argument challenging the application of ER 803(3) or 803(6) to the emails. Instead, apart from his argument that the emails are inadmissible simply because they are "self-serving," Brown's primary complaint is that he was denied

"the ability to question and challenge the authenticity of [the] emails." (Br. p. 4, 18.) However, as noted above, Brown raised the same concern at the summary judgment hearing, but declined the trial court's explicit willingness to entertain a CR 56(f) continuance. (RP 5-6.) As a result, Brown waived any argument that additional discovery would have led to a disputed issue of fact as to the emails' authenticity. *See Avellaneda*, *supra*, 167 Wn. App. at 485 n. 5. Lastly, Brown provides no basis to conclude that the emails had been "falsified" beyond sheer speculation.

C. The Trial Court Did Not Err in Granting QCDS Summary Judgment

Having established the proper scope of the record on review, *Sunbreaker*, 79 Wn. App. at 373, QCDS turns to Brown's assignments of error relating to the cross-motions for summary judgment. Brown assigns error to the trial court's decision to grant QCDS summary judgment on four of six¹ causes of action in his Amended Complaint: (1) "disability-based hostile work environment" leading to discharge; (2) "failure to accommodate" a disability; (3) retaliatory discharge for filing a workers' compensation claim; and (4) failure to provide Brown with meal and rest breaks under WAC 296-126-093.

Brown does not appeal the trial court's decision to grant QCDS summary judgment as to two causes of action, negligent infliction of emotional distress and age discrimination.

The standard of review of an order of summary judgment is de novo, and this Court performs the same inquiry as the trial court, *viz.*, an examination of whether the record demonstrates the absence of any genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. CR 56(c); *Sheehan v. Central Puget Sound Regional Transit Auth.*, 155 Wn. 2d 790, 796-77, 123 P.3d 88 (2005).

1. <u>Brown's Disability-Based Hostile Work</u> Environment Claim

A "disability based hostile work environment" required Brown to "prove (1) that he . . . was disabled within the meaning of the antidiscrimination statute, (2) that the harassment was unwelcome, (3) that it was because of the disability, (4) that it affected the terms or conditions of employment, and (5) that it was imputable to the employer." *Robel v. Roundup Corp.*, 148 Wn. 2d 35, 45, 59 P.3d 611 (2002).

In opposition to summary judgment, Brown did not address his claim of hostile work environment. (See CP 222-263.) QCDS, on the other hand, pointed to Brown's testimonial admissions that he was not disabled at the time of his hire, that he had no medical restrictions during his employment, and that no one at QCDS made any negative statements about his alleged workplace injury on August 9, 2010 – an alleged injury

that, not inconsequentially, took place eight days after QCDS had decided to terminate his employment. (CP 118; 141; 165.)

On appeal, Brown points to a declaration in which he confirmed that he "had no medical restrictions," but alleged that three QCDS employees began "riding" him two weeks before his termination. (CP 36; 286-87.) Those employees told him that he "was not fast enough" in completing his routes and ignored his suggestion that a "lift gate would assist [him] in completing [his] job assignments"; one employee, Chuck Brewer, "told [him] that [he] had to keep working in spite of [his] back injury." (CP 36.) That testimony, according to Brown, satisfied all elements of a hostile work environment claim under *Robel v. Roundup Corp.*, *supra*, 148 Wn.2d at 45.

Brown's argument on appeal fails. In *Robel*, after the plaintiff sustained a workplace injury and was assigned light duty, her coworkers repeatedly mocked and insulted her and accused her of lying about her injury. *See* 148 Wn.2d at 41 (coworkers "had a great time making fun of [Robel], calling [her] names[,] pretending to hurt their backs & yelling L&I."). There is no comparable evidence of harassment in this case, much less conduct that affected the terms and conditions of Brown's employment. In fact, Brown's complaints about his supervisors "riding" him about not being "fast enough" do not come close to the kind of

"severe and pervasive" harassment that would constitute an actionable hostile work environment under Washington law. See, e.g., Davis v. Fred's Appliance, Inc., 171 Wn. App. 348, 361-62, 287 P.3d 51 (2012) (harassment must be severe enough to affect conditions of employment; court considers "totality of circumstances, including the frequency and severity of harassing conduct, whether it was physically threatening or humiliating or merely an offensive utterance, and whether it unreasonably interfered with the employee's work performance."); Kirby v. City of Tacoma, 124 Wn. App. 454, 465, 98 P.3d 827 (2004) ("[Y]elling at an employee or threatening to fire an employee is not an adverse employment action") (citations omitted).

In stark contrast to the plaintiff in *Robel*, Brown admitted that no one ever harassed him about any actual or perceived disability at any time. (CP 165.) He was not insulted, physically threatened, or humiliated, and he does not claim that his supervisors unreasonably interfered with his performance. *Davis*, 171 Wn. App. at 361-62. To the contrary, Brown admitted that there was nothing "unusual" about his supervisors' request that he complete his routes more quickly, that they made this request of other drivers, and that the request was "legitimate." (CP 129; 51:3-8.) In short, there is no evidence of "harassment."

In addition, as explained more fully in the next section, Brown's "disability based hostile work environment" claim also fails because he produced no evidence that he was actually "disabled."

2. Brown's "Failure to Accommodate" Claim

To establish a prima facie case for failure to accommodate a disability, Brown was required to show that (1) he had a qualifying disability; (2) he was qualified to perform the essential functions of the job with or without reasonable accommodation; and (3)(a) his disability either had a "substantially limiting effect" upon his ability to perform his or her job; or (b) he placed QCDS on notice of the disability, and medical documentation established a "reasonable likelihood that engaging in job functions without an accommodation would aggravate the impairment to the extent that it would create a substantially limiting effect." RCW 49.60.040(7)(d); Riehl v. Foodmaker, Inc., 152 Wn.2d 138, 145, 94 P.3d 930 (2004). See also Johnson v. Chevron U.S.A., Inc., 159 Wn. App. 18, 28-29, 244 P.3d 438 (2010) (modifying elements of failure-to-accommodate claim to comport with 2007 amendments to WLAD).

Brown explains that the "main thrust" of his "failure to accommodate" claim relates to a "prior back injury" that occurred while in high school in 1980. (Br. p. 22.) According to Brown, he complained to three QCDS employees – Eric Lard, Steve McCraney, and Chuck Brewer

- that, because of his back injury, he "could not move as fast as the other drivers, jumping in and out of the truck," and that "lift gates would greatly assist [him]." (CP 36.) As explained below, Brown's assertions were not sufficient to state a claim, and the trial court did not err in granting QCDS summary judgment.

(a) Brown's High School Back Injury Did Not Qualify as a "Disability"

To establish that he had a "disability" eligible for an accommodation, Brown was required to produce evidence of the existence of an impairment "in fact" – i.e., an impairment that was either "medically cognizable or diagnosable" or that existed "as a record or history." RCW 49.60.040(7)(a); RCW 49.60.040(7)(d).

To satisfy this element on summary judgment, Brown submitted a declaration that he had back surgery in 1980 when he was in high school, which surgery resulted in two rods being inserted in his back for support. (CP 35-36.) However, Brown's testimony, standing alone, was not enough under CR 56; he needed to present medical evidence of a disability sufficient to meet the requirements of the WLAD. *See Simmerman v. U-Haul Co. of Inland Northwest*, 57 Wn. App. 682, 687, 789 P.2d 763, 687 (1990) (plaintiff was not entitled to have his own declaration asserting the existence of disability "considered at face value" on summary judgment).

See also Calhoun v. Liberty Northwest Ins. Corp., 789 F. Supp. 1540, 1547 (W.D. Wash. 1992) ("Ms. Calhoun has set forth no medical evidence that she suffered from a disability at the time of her discharge or that her doctor had set limits on the kind of work she could do upon her return. In fact, the only evidence plaintiff cites that she continued to suffer from any disability are her own subjective statements that she experienced back and neck pains from stooping and bending while doing her file clerk duties. . . . Such subjective statements are insufficient to create a genuine issue of material fact that plaintiff had a handicap.").

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